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SAN JOSE Y SAN MIGUEL DE AGUAYO

San.Antonic, Bexar County, Texas.

Qwner: Romen Catholic Church, Archdioccese of Jan Antonic, Arche-

bishop Droesserts.

Degte of Ersctions

The {irst church was founded on Fab, 25, 1720
about & helf league from the present church,
They celebrated the completion of the chureh
on Meren 5, 1731 by founding San Juan, %spads
and Concepcionon on their present sitss. The
cornerstone of ihe second (present) church was
laid Mgy 19, 1768 by Don Hugo O'Conmor, Gov-
ernor and Cept. General of Pexas. This church
was completed in 1781,

Architactt Pedro Huisar

Builder: The Franciscan Priars and Indisas under the direction of
Pedro liuiser.

Present Jonditions

Number of Stories:

Only the wylls of the gransry &and the walls of
the chapel and convent weres left in 1932. Since
that time the roofs of &l11 these buildings,
Indien quarters and other resioration work hape .
vean doue by various government agencisg under
tha direction of Harvey P, Smith, A.I.A. San
Antonio, Texas.

The churen, reunery a&ud convent are two stories,
the Indian and soldiers guarters are one story.

The entire bullding, walls, rool, etc.,

is made of stoue three to five feet thick.
he floor 1is of flagsione and hard teaped
aarthe The interior finigii on walls and
cailing is swooth wiite olsstar.

Other ¥xisting Becords: "™lexss in tue Midale 18%h Century" = Iugence

Holton - 1910 :
Hirdians end ¥Missions" - Fraderisck C. Chabot

- 1930

“san Antonic de Fexar" - %illiam OJorner =-1890 -
Davghter of Dehuan written in 1896 in Germsn: -
by Alto 3. lioermann, translated into Buglish
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in 1932 by Alois Braun, University of Texas

Librery, austin, Texas.

Archives of the Sa&n Fernando uathedral San
Antonio, Texas.

The following reports are in the archives of

3an ¥rencisco el Grande-~iiother House of the

¥ranciscan Ordsr, Mexico:

Fray Antonio Cipriano 1749

Governor Barrios 1758

Fray Jose de Solis 1768

Fray Juan Augustin Horfi 1778

Complete drewings of tha l'ission San Jose have

been made by Harvey P. Smith, A.I.A., San :

Antonio, Texad.

dd itions :

A complete description of tiie work, size and activity of
the Mission San Jose may be secursd from Uray Juan MNorri's report of
1778 t¢0 the Licther College:

"The Jission of Sen Jose Y Zan Miguel de Aguayo is slighe-.
tly mors than half & league from the preceeding ons. “rom the time of
its esteblishment by the venerabdle “ray Aantonio Margil de Jesus in o
1720 to the present, it has bean under the care of the Apostolic Fathe -
ers of the College of Nusstra Senora de Cuadalupe of Zacatecas. It isy
in truth, the “irst mission in Americs, not in peint of time, but in -
point of beauty, plan and strength, 30 that there ig not & presidio
glong the antire froatier lins that can compare with it.™

“The living gquarters and public off'ices form & square
216 varas on each side, but two of these measure 220 varas on the
outside, because the Indisn houses built next to them are four veras
in depth. There are four identical gabes on the four cormers, over. the
tos of emch of wihich, & bastion has been built te delfend them, and on
the side of +the hollow, or indentation, of each gate, loopholes have
besn made through tie wails of the adjoining rocoms on either side,
where the most trusted Izndians live, that they may fire ssafely upon
the enemy should the doors be stormeds. On the West side, in frong of -
the church, there is a fifth door with an iron grating, and this is the
only one that is open svery day. It faces & wide plain from which the
tr=es and brush ware cut down for & zood distance t0 pravent a surprise
by the anemy. "

"Prom this gate to the north corner, & gransry was built

of stone and mortar with three naves and & vaulted roof. There is zlso -

a loom in which rich blankets, cotton cloth, sack cloth apd other he&vy
cotton cloth worn by the Indians were woven. There is a cerpesnter shdap,
& backsmith shop, & tailor shop, and everyihing nesded in & well rege-

ulated community. lastly everything is in such order end s0 well plan--
ned that even if the enemy were capable of laying s=ige, the besieged, -
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having, a3 they have, thelr greiaries well {illed with food &nd
plenty of pood water in their wells, could afford to lawgh at
thair opponentsg.”

™iext to the North sides & new church was being built
within the walls, which perhaps is finished by now ag there wss
very little to be done when I saw it &t the close of 1777. It is
8 beantiful temple with three vanltied naves, fifty varas long snd
ten wide with its ftranscept. The acorner stone wasgs leid by Hugo
C'Conner on May 19, 1768. It has a beautiful cupols, though it is
overcrowded with unnacessary ornaments. This building, because of
its size, good taste, and beesuty would graca a large city as a
perish church. The whole stracture is sdmirably proportioned and
strougly dbuilt of stone and wmortsr, chiefly out of a sandy lime-
stone, that is light and porus, when freshly quarrisd, but in a
few days hsardens, snd bscomas one with the mortar for which resson
it i3 ag useful for building vs tezontle (volcanic-porus stons nged
extensively in lexico.) This stone is secured from a quurry nesr
the mission of Neustra Senors de la Concepcion. The fscade is very
costly because of the statues snd ormaments with which it was heav-
ily decorsted, detracting somswhet from its netural besuty. In the
center, and immediately over the main entrance, a lasrge balcony was
ccnstructed which gives much me jesty 10 the building, and the effect
wcvild have been enchsnced if the hexagonal window that illuminates
the choir, and is the entri.ce, had been made 0 simulate a door.

In & word, no one could have 1m@gihed that there were such good »
artists in so dsesolate a place,”

"he sacristy of the new church, w.ich is whers the ﬁlvine
gerviceg are celebrated for the time being, hss & door that opens
inko the living quarters of the religious, It ig & handsome &and
cheerful room, large, with vaultea roof, good lignt, well decorated
and svery thing is in sood taste.™

e convent, or living quarters for the missionaries, has
two ctories with gspacious gslleriass, The ons on the sacond floor
opens out on the flat roof of the Indisn gueriers «nd is very conv-
anient. fwo quadrants {sun. dials} on vertical columns were set up
there, made out of & species of limes*tone s0 soft when first brought
from the querry, thet it can bs planed like wood, but which when ex-
posed to the air, hardens and can be polished like marble. The fig-
ursg of the facade of the church, the bannister of the stairway of
tha convent end an image of Ssaint Joseph that is on its pedsesiel, all
wers made mores beautiful by the eszse with which the stone worked.
Thera are anocugh rooms £o6r the missionaires, [for the convenisnce of
s faw guests, ag well sz the necessary orfices for the religious, a
large well ordared'kitchaﬁ, & comfortable refectory snd a pantry. =



HABS No. Tex"353:ff'”'

. Page 4. .TE{:‘}:‘?._- :.

- . |5 SANT.v
5.

Thers is on zrnory where the gune, bows and arrows and the lances
are kapt, with vhich to arm the neoph: tes 1s 2uge of attzek, or to
#ct a8 auxiliary troops on 2 csmpaign in which cuse the mission pro-
vides them, rot only with arms, but with amrmnition and supplies as .
well. In & gepdrete room, wre kept the decorations and dregses with 
which the Indixnc bedeck themselv=s for their dsnces, introdunced by
the missiorwries now Spanigh and now Mexiean, that ftheyr miéht fore |
gﬂﬁ their ustive mitotes (Pagsa Testivsis).® L
%Phe ferm occuples shout a league sguere snd is all fenced 
the fance being in good condition. For its benefit, webter is taken.
from the San Antonio River snd distributed by mesns of o Dagutiful -
irrigatior diteh %o all parts of the field wiers corm, besuns, lentllsﬂ
cotton, sugar can=, wabermelons, melons and swest potatoss are reaigedd
J/”It #lso hes & vsteh for all kindg of vegeiables snd there gre some "7
S fruit trees, from wmong which the peuichss stand out, their fruit
f,f/V weighing &t times ag mmach as & pound.™
e ‘ "he mission wae founded with Pumpopus, Mesquites, and N
///’”r Pastias to which latsr were added Zamanas, Tacames, Caonas, Aquaste
2llss, snd Xeunmeg.These indisns are today well instructed and civile
. ’ jzed and know how to work very well at their mechanicsl trades and =
) are proficlent in some of the arts. 7hey spesk Spanish perfectly with
. the exception of those who &re dmily brought in from the wood by the
zegl of the missionaries. Many play the harp, $the violin and the
guitsr well, sing well and dance the ssme dances &s the Spaniards.
They £o about well dressed and are atundantly fed, and arouse the
envy of the less fortunate settilers of San Fernendo, the isdolence
of many of whom obliges them to beg their food from these Indians,
who enjoy so much plesnty, and whos2 mission is im oppulence, thanks .-
to the labors and exertions of ¥ray Pedro Ramirez de Arellsno of the-
college of Nuestra Senors de Guadalupe of Zacatecas, who isg in :
charge of this mission and is the president of &all tha missions in
. the Province and uhose dedication, zeal, and religious spirit deg=
srve all prziss
"On hnrcn 1768, the mission had 350 persons, of which 110
were capable of besring arms - 45 of these could uge guns, and the
rest bows and arrows., Since thet time their nwaber has heen grestly
reduced. There ware 10584 baptisms parformed up to nhﬁt vear, 87 :
marriages, and 359 burials.®
Credit is given for %n=z translation of fho raport to Dr,
Carlog Castanedo, Garcim Library University of Pexes, Austin, Texas.
Oradit is given, for all dates znd descriptive date to
Harvey P. Smith, 4.I.A. San Antonio, Texass

APPROVEDS.

« Gfficsr
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The Miseion Sen Jose y 8an Miguel de Aguayo is one of the finest
exemples of Spanish srchitecturse. in Horth Americe and most certainly the
most refined relic of the Spaniards ex1sting in the United States, Like
so many of our southern monuments, it has been accorded little ballyhoo.
In other sections it might conceivably have been the goel of tours and
treks, the festure of its locality, anmd the inspiretion for advertise-
ments. .

The Mission Sen Jose wes established in l?zo_along with four othsp
Franciscan missions neer San Antonio. The relative importance of San -
‘Jose to the other missions as well as to all othér missions in America _
was demonstrated by the perscnal interest teken in them and their comey. . g
struction by His Catholic Majesty, King Philip V of Spein. This inter-
est resulted in the dispatch-of Pedro Huizer, favorite seulptor of the
-Spanish court, to execute the carvings on San Jose as well as the other
missions. Huizar's work at Szn Jose is still in & marvelous stete of { :
prsgsrvation and offers the unusual opportunity for study.in America of |
an exsmple of the finest of IEuropeen work of its period.

- .The main facade is executed in a menner typicel of ita period S
Great bare wall surfaces comple tely deleted of interest offer hot the .
- glightest distraétion from the passionate concentration of enrichment
- mbout. & central motive, There ars few buildings in Spein itself which
havé’earrie& out in so catholic an interpretation‘of this axiom of the -
best Spanish design. Nor c¢an any carving of-the- perlod compare to the -
delicacy of linse found in this brllliantly rqmantic motive. Lo

In another wall of the building oceurs. the famnus Rose Wlndow Wthh
has. meny times Deen declared one of -the outstandlng examples of stone _
sculpture in ‘the world. - Thanks to the Historie. American Bulldinga Sur-
vey We are.able to presant net. only & photograph of this, window but a
- measured drawing as well. It was carved by Pedro Hiizar end still
stands e momiment to his surpassing mastery of design ag well as his
craftsmanship. i

A local legend still extant amus;ngly seeks to explain the appar—;f o
ent misnomer of Rose Window. Sensing the hardships ‘#nd uncertaintiea
of 1life in- the new world, Pedro: Huizar refussd to take his sweethsart,__,.pf
" Rose’ Montersy, on 86 perilous a journay “to frontier couﬁtry. Perhaps
he soldaced her with promises thet he would ssnd for her latver: 88 30 meny.
of his’ countrymen have done since then:  For. five long yeers. . ‘he ‘15
' to -have worked feverishly ‘to hasten the time of her coming. . But whe
. at last his work was nesrly done and she was due. to arrive, . a ‘megsage
o from e mhip: brought tha tidings of her_death Th window wes. named
_,her honor. T T -
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The plan layout of San Jose as shown here does not comprise the
entire original eetablishment, which wes in the form of a guadrangle,
enclogsed on the eouth, esst zpd west sides hy connected dwellings for
the Indiens, the sides being pierced here and there hy gates. In the
nortawest corner was the Grapery with its flying buttresses. A grist
mill was located to the north of the Miseion outside the walls. Exca-
vations in 1934 revealed the existence of these old foundstions, and
restorations, ueing the old foundations end following descrintions
found in old Spanish records, are zhout to be completed under the euper-
vieion of Harvey P. Smith, local architect. These restoratione include
the rebuilding of the Church proper, the Granarf and the three sides of
the guadrangle previouelf referred to,

A complete description of the work, .Slzé.ﬁnd activity of the Mis-
eion San Jose mey be secured from Fray Juan Morfi'e report of 1778 to
the Mother College:

- "The Mission Sen Jose y San Miguel de Agueyo is slightly more than
a half league from the preceding one. From the time of ite estsblish-
ment by the venerable Fr=y Antonio Margil de Jesus in 1720 to the pre-
gent, it has heen under the care of the Apostolic Fathers of the Col-
lege of Nuestra Senora de Guadalupe of Zacatecas. It is, in truth, the
first miseion in Americs, not in point of time, hut in point of heauty,
plan and strength, so that there is not a presidio along the entire
frontier line that can compare with it. .

”The living quarters and puhliz officee form a equare 216 varas
on each eide, but two of these measure 220 veras on the outside, hecause .
the Indian housee built next to them are four veras in depth. Ihere :
are four identical gates on the four corners, over the top of each of
which 2 bastion has been built to defend them, and on the side of the
hollow or indentation of each gete, loopholes have been made through
the walls of the adjoining roome on either side, where the most trusted

Indians live, that they may fire safsely upon the enemy should the doors_rf-'

be stormed. .On the west side, in front of the church, there ie a fifth
door with an iron grating, and thie is the only one that is open every
day. It faces & wide plain from which the trees and brush were cut
down for a good dist&nce to preVent surprise by the enemy.

“From this gate 1o the north corner g granary was built of stone

. end mortar with three navee and & ‘veulted roof, There is also a loom -

in whlch rich hlankets, éotton cloth sach cloth and other heavy cotton B
cloth worn by the Indians were woven., There ie a carpenter ehop, & .
blackmnith shop, a tailor shop snd everythlng needed in a well regulatedf_ "
community: Lastly, everything is in guch order and so well plammed 7
that even* 1£ the ‘'enemy were capsahle .of laying siege, the hesieged, hav-’
ing,. as they have, their ‘granaries well filled with food and plenty of
good water in their wells could afford: to laugh at their opponents.

"ﬂext to _the north eide a new churcn was being built within the ~
ﬁperhape ia finished by ncw as: thsre was very llttle to ba '
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done when I sew it at the close of 1777. It ie a beautiful temple with
three vaulted naves, fifty varas long end ten wide with its transept.
The corner stone was laid by Hugo 0'Connor on May 19, 1768, It has a
beautiful cupols, though it is overcrowded with unnecassary ornements.
This building, because of its size, good taste, and besuty would grace
& lerge city as s pearish church. The whole etructuras ie admirebly pro-
portioned and strongly built of stone and mortar, chiefly out of a eandy
limestone that is light and porous when freshly cuarried, but in a few
deys hardens and become one with the morter, for which it is as useful
for building es tezontle {volcanic-porous stone usad axtensivaly in
Mexico). Thie stone is secured from & guarry near the Mission of Nuestra
Senora de la Concepcion. The facade is very coetly because of ths eta-
tues and ornements with which it was heavily decorated, detracting some-
what from its naturel beauty. In the center, and immediately over the
main entrance, a large balcony was constructed which gives much majeety
to the building, and the effect would have been enhanced if the hexag-
onal window that illuminetes tha choir, and is the entrance, bad been
made to similate a door. Im a word, no ona could have imegined thet
there were such good artists in so desolate a place.

"The sacristy of the new church, which is where the divine ser-
vices are celebrated for the time being, has a door that opens into the
liviag cuarters of the religious. "It is & handsome and cheerful room,
lerge, with vaulted roof, good light, well decorated and everything ie in
good taste. . .

"Tha convent, or living quarters for the miseionaries, has two
stories with spacioue galleries. Tha one on the second floor opans out
on the flat roof of the Indian ouarters and is very convenient. Two
auadrants {sun dials) on vertical columne wers set up. there, made out
of & epecies of limestone 20 soft, when first brought from the guarry,
that it can be plened like wood, but which, when exposed to the air,
hardene and cen be polished like mearble. The figures of tha faoade of
the church, the bamnisier of the stairway'of_ths convent and an image
of Saint Joseph that is on its pedestal, all were made more beeutiful
by the eese with which the stone worked. = There are enough rooms for the
missionaries, for the convenience of a fsw guests as well as the neces-
sery offices for the religloue, e large well ordered kitchen, a comfort-
able refectory and a pantry. There is an armory where tha guns, bows
and arrows asnd the lancee are kept, with which to amm the neophytes in
casa of atteck, or to act ae auxiliery troops on a campaign, in which
cesa the mission provides them, not only with arms, but emmunition end
supplies ae well. In a separete room, are kept the decoratione and
dresses with which the Indiens bedeck: themselvee for their dances, in-
troduced by the missioneries, now Spanish and now Mexicen, that they :
might forget their natlva mitotes (Pagan festivals)

#The farm occupies about 8 league square and is all fencad the
fence being in good condition. For its benefit, water is taken from
the o0ld Sen-Antonio Kiver and distributed by measns of & beautiful irri-

lentlls, cotton, sugar cane watermelons melona and sweet potatoes’ﬁre
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raised. It &1s0 hes a patch for amll kinds of vegetables and there ars
some fruit tress, from emong which the peaches stand out, their fruit
wsighing at times as much as & pound. '

“The mission was founded with Pampopes, Mesquites, snd Paetias to
which lmter wers addsd Cemenas, Tacemes, Csnnas, Aguastalilas, and
¥eunses. These Indians are todey well inetructed and civilized =nd
inow how to work very well at their mechenicasl trades and ere profi-
¢isnt in some of the arte. They speak Spanish perfectly with the ex-
ception of these who are daily brought in from the woods by the zeal
of the missionaries. Meny play the barp, the violin and the guitar
wsll, sing well and dance the ¢ame dances as the Spaniarde. They go
sbout well dressed and are abundantly fed, and arouee the envy of the
less fortunate settlsre of San Fernando, ths indolence of many of whonm
oblige them to beg their food from these Indisns, who enjoy 50 much
plenty, and whose mission is in opulence, thanks to the labors and
exertions of Fray Pedro Ramirez de Arellano of the college of Nueetra
Ssnora de Guadalupe of Zacatecas, who is in cherge of this miesion and
ie the president of all the missione in the Province and whose dedica-
tion, zeal, and religious spirit derive all praise.”

Credit is given for ths translation of the report to Ir. Carloe Caest-
anedo, Garcia Library, University of Texas, Austin, Texas,

‘ _ Credit is given for all dates and descriptive data to Harvey P. Smith,
- A, I. A., Ban Antonio, Texas.

- , Southern Architectursl Review, May 1937
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Materisle of Construction: - s

The entire buildings, walls, roof, etc., sre made of etone three
to five feet thick., The floor ie of flagstone and hard tamped
earth, The interior finish on wells end ceiling is smooth white
plaster.

Other Bxisting Kecords:

"Taxeg in the Middle 18th Ceantury"--Eugens Bolton--1915. "Indians
and Miselons"-~-Frederick C. Chabot--1930. "San Antonio de Bexar"
--%¥illiam Corner--1890. "Daughter of Tehuan™ written 1866 in
German by Alto 5. Hoermann, transleted into English in 1932 by
Alcie Braun, University of Texse Librery, Austin, Texmse. Archives
of the San Fernando Cathedral, San Antonio, Texas. The following
reports are in the archivee of San Francisco el Grande-Mother
Houee of the Franciscan Order, Mexico: Fray Antonio Cipriano,
1749; Governor Barrios 1708; Fray Jose de Sclis 1768; Fray Juan
Augustin Moxrfi 1778. Complete drawings of the Mission Sen Jose
heve been made by Hervey P. Smith, A, I, A., Sen Antonio, Texae.
"Tha Rose Window of San Jose" by JTan Iebslle Fortune in Holland's
Magazine, March 1932. ' '

~ ADDENDUM
© FOLLOWS...
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ADDENDUM T0:
MISSION SAN JOSE ¥ SAN MIGUEL DE AGUAYO
Location: 6539 San Jose Road, San Antonio, Bexar County, Texas.
Present Owner: The State of Texas and the Roman Catholic Archdiocese
of Texas.
Present Use: Publie museum.
Significance: Established on its present site, circa 1740, Mission San Jose

is the most complete of the five extant mission complexes
dating from the eighteenth century to be found in San Antonio.
The surviving buildings are of significance ito the study of
Texas colonial history and provide the contemporary observer
with a visual concept of this important frontier instltution.
The San Jose church is particularly significant as an architec-
tural monument.

HISTORICAL INFORMATION

The Mission San Jose y San Miguel de Aguayo was officially founded Februwary 23,
1720. On that day four Spanish officials from the Presidio of San Antonio de
Bexar,acting on a decree from the Marquis de Aguayo dated January 22, 1720, accom-
panied Father Antonic Margil, his companion missionaries and a group of Indians to .
& spot some four miles south of San Antonio on the east bank of the San Antonio
River. At that spot, "an elevated plain, spacious and very level,” Fr. Margil

had previously caused to be erected a straw hut or jacal, erected in the Indian
manner with walls consisting of stakes or branches driven inte the ground and
finished in wattle and daub fashion and covered by a thatched grass roof.

Symbolic possession-taking ceremcnies were led by Captain Lorenzo Garcia of the-
Presidio of Bexar. Handfuls of grass were pulled, selected branches cut fronm
trees, rocks, and handfuls of dirt were thrown across the fields as signs of owner-.
ship. Garcia explained to the Indians that the land was thelrs but that the mis-
sionaries were to have complete charge of their affairs. An irrigation ditch was
traced out, and a square of 100 varas was selected arcund which the mission build-
ings were to be erected. The buildings that did get erected in the square were
characteristic Indian jacals serving as temporary shelters,

The Mission was apparently an initial success in proselyting the aboriginal Indiang .

of the area. Prior to establishing the Mission of San Jose, Fr. Margil had -
assisted Fr. OQlivares at the Mission of San Antonic de Padua. During that time he

had encountered three tribes who expressed a desire to submit %o mission life, but -

due to their hostility with those Indians already settled at San Antonio de Padua,
they desired to locate elsewhere. It was at this point in 1719 that Fr. Margil was .
prompted to write the Marquis de Aguayo suggesting the founding of a new mission to 3~
be called San Jose y San Miguel de Aguayo 30 be under the tare of the College of
Zacatecas, a Franciscan order.
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Affairs progressed well at the Mission. Two soldiers from the Presidio de Bexar
resided at the Missiocn acting not only to guard the missionaries, but also to
oversee the instruction of the Indians in various trades. In 1721 when Aguayo
paid his firat visit to San Jose, the population already numbered 227 Indian in-
habitants, and by 1724 the mission's large irrigation ditch was in operation and
the Mission enjuyed its first surplus of corn.

For some unknown reason the first site of the Mission was abandoned between 1724
and 1727 and relocated on the west bank of the San Antonio River, slightly south
of the original site. Father Miguel Nunez had been placed in charge of Ban Jose
by then, and it may be that he was instrumental in relocating the Mission. Shortly
after the removal to the new site Fr. Nunez erected new adobe buildings, dug a nev
irrigation canal and planted new fields.

It appears that by the year 1731 Fr. Nunez had erected an adobe church building at
San Jose. It has been written that the church of the San Jose Mission was com-
pleted on March 5, 1731. At that time numerous events were taking place around
San Antonio. It was in 1731 that the Canary Island colonists arrived in Bexar and
established the Villa de San Fernando. It was also in 1731 that the three
Queretaran missions in Bast Texas, which had been suppressed in 1729, were reestab-
lished along the San Antonic River in the vicinity of San Jose. Mission Nuestra
Sencora de la Purisima Concepcion de Acuna was located on the east side of the River
between San Antonio and San Jose, on the side of the former Mission San Francisco
Xavier. Also located on the east bank of the river over three miles south of San
Jose was the Mission San Juan Capistrano. Some twe miles farther south the Mission
Ban Francisco de Espada was reestablished on the west bank of the River.

It should be noted here that with the arrival of the three Queretaran missions in
the San Antonio vicinity San Jose was the only Zacatecan mission until the year
1773 when control of the remaining San Antonio missions was transferred to the
college of Zacatecas.

Nunerous troubles beset all of the San Antonio missions during their existence,
including constant Apache and Comanche harrassment and conflict with Spanish civil
authorities and colonists; but none was so bad as the disastroud smallpox and
measles epidemic which erupted in the area in 1T739.

Perhaps as a result of the epidemic, San Jose was moved a third and last time to its
present site on higher ground one-half mile distant from the previous one. This
move ushered in the period of San Jose's greatest development and achievement. The
development of the Mission's buildings can only be briefly documented by reference
to the few contemporary reports known to us. In a report of 1744 Fr. Espinosa
related that San Jose was one of the most successful of the Zacatecan missions. He
also menticned the existence of "a church with terraces,” probably the first church
erected at the present site.

Fr. Ciprian writing in 1749 described San Jose as a "veritable fortress" with a
beautiful mission church capable of seating 200 persons. Adjoining the church was
the friary or convent with its serrated cloister and flat roof with a crenellated
parapet. Ciprian also recorded the existence of a two room, flat roofed stone
granary and Indian houses of stone., The crenellated parapets were a common sight in
the missions, and were built primarily for protection against the hostile Indians
and other adversaries.
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In 1758 Governor Jag¢into Barrios paid a visit to San Jose and described the build-
ings in existence at that time. The Indians' houses, integral with the compound
wall, were of stone and had flat roofs with crenellated parapets, Fach house con-
sisted of one room and a kitchen, Bathing pools and flowing water from the acequia
were also noted. Barrios described the church as having a nave and a transept with
a well-proportioned tower with a set of bells., Adjoining the church were the convent
and the cloister, built of limestone, fairly large, and having two stories. The
lower floor was divided into numerous rooms and offices, while the upper floor was
one large room. Opposite the church were the quarters for the three soldiers cus-
tomarily stationed at the missions, Other buildings mentioned were a carpenter
shop, other workshop® and a sugar cane mill. A cemetery enclosed by a rubhle stone
fence served double duty as a military plaza where the Indians practiced their
military activities.

By 1768 construction was underway for the new church at San Jose. Fr. Solis
recorded that the former church had been razed, and the building of a new stone
church commenced. At the time of Fr. Solis' wvisit the foundations were conpleted;
and on the feast day of St. Joseph, March 19, 1768, he blessed the foundation and
the first stones. QGovernor Don Hugo Oconor also participated in the cememony by
laying one of the building stones.

Fr. Solis also described the mission compound, which at that date consisted of a
large open plaza 611 feet square. This plaza was also used as a protective rampart.
There were two gates apparently opposite each other and two towers on diagonal cor-
ners. The Indian apartments were erected slong the walls and formed a part of them,
These were of stone construction, and each was provided with a kitchen and a fire-
place and was well furnished with raised beds and bison hide mattresses.

Workshops of various kinds were mentioned by Fr. Solis and included textile, tailor,
carpenter and blacksmith shops. In addition there were lime and brick kilns and a
stone granary with a vaulted roof.

The builder of the San Jose Church in 1768 was Fr. Pedro Ramirez de Arellano.

Fr. Solis writing in 1768 stated, "This church, which is to be a stone structure
with a vaulted ceiling is to be 50 varas (166,50 feet) in length and, including
the transept, 30 varas (99.90 feet) in width," Fr, Morfi observed the construction
of the church on his visit in January of 1778: ", . . when I saw it, a good part.
of the vaulted roof had not yet been finished, There are three arches in one beau=
tiful nave, 50 varas long (166,50 feet) by 10 varas (33,30 feet) wide, with the
corresponding transept. . . ."

Although Morfi relates that the nave vaults were incomplete at the time of his visit,
he also reported that "there was very little to be done™ t¢ the church at that time
for it to be complete. The south tower was completed by then, as was the "cupola,"
"overcrowded with unnecessary ornaments" or "useless moldings." In general, however,
he considered the church "admirably proportioned; and because of "its size, good
taste and beauty," he felt it "would grace a large city as a parish church.”
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In keeping with the usual convention in the erection of the mission churches, the
chapel (sacristy) at San Jose was the first completed part of the church, Morfi
described it as a "handsome and cheerful room, large and well decorated," "with
good light and very gay." The room itself formed one "cell"™ or vault, and the door
opened onto the "cleister or cerridor of the convent.," The chapel may have been
bullt at sbout the same time zg the church.

Pr. Morfi described the convent as a two-story structure extending esstward from

the sacristy at the east end of the church, with a double gallery extending along

the south side, This building provided quarters for the ministers and some guests
and included "a large, well fitted out, comfortable refectory™ and other offices for
the missionaries. If addition, the convent contained a kitchen and pantry, an

armory wherein were kept the arms for the Indians, and a room set aside for the
decorations and costumes "with which the Indians bedeck themselves for their dances.”

Morfi thought highly of the stone used in the construction of San Jose, which he
described as a "sandy limestone that is light and porous when freshly gquarried but
in a few days hardens and becomes cone with the mortar for which reason it is as
useful for building as 'tezontle'." This stone, quarried near the Mission Concep-
cion, was the favorite building material for all of the San Antonio missions.

Even while the new church was being erected in the 1770s, San Jose, along with the
other San Antonic Missions, was entering its declining years. Apache raids contin-
ued to harass the Migsions, taking their toll in both inhabitants and livestock;
and the contagiocus epidemics also continued to reduce the Indian population.

Another of the principal reasons for the Missions' decline was a decree issued by
Theodore de Croix following his visit to Texas in 1777. This decree literally
stripped the missions of their wealth by declaring that a1l wild or unbranded cat-
tle, of which the missions had thousands, were the property of the state and could
not be slaughtered except by payment to the government. Although the missions were
given a four month pericd in which to brand their herds, the task was impossible due
to the reduced population and the lack of horses, almost all of which had been
stolen by the wild Indians.

The herds were further reduced by raiding Indians who slaughtered the cattle wantonly
and by the scldiers of the Presidio of San Antonic wheo killed to supply the needs

of the garrison. In addition there were those among the Spanish colonists who were
known to slaughter a hundred head or more in a week.

By 1780 the College of Zacatecas was fully aware of the circumstances of the San
Antonio Missions under 1ts Jurisdiction and foresaw the coming future events. 1In
1780 the College petitioned Commandant General Theodoro de Croix for relief from the
temporal affairs of the Missions. It was suggested that a layman be appointed the
responsibility of the temporal administration of the Indians, preceded by a property
‘distribution among them; and that the missionary would be responsible only for the
church, the friary or convent and their furnishings.
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The petition of 1780 was not acted on, and it was not until 179% that a decree
of partial secularization was issued. In that year San Jose and the three other
San Antonio missions distributed some of their fields and other property among
the resident Christian Indians and appointed a "justice' to assume the duties of
a temporal administrator. The missionaries continued in charge of those Indians
still under instyuction but exercised their duties under the jurisdiction of the
Bishop in the manner of Parish priests.

Secularization proceedings were carried out by Governor Munoz on July 16, 1794,

at which time he announced to the T8 Christian Indians of San Jose that the common
property was to be subdivided with each family receiving a part of it; they would
then be required to provide for their own needs. A common farm was to be estab-
lished to defray the expenses of the community. Jose Herrera, a Spanisrd, was
appointed as the "justice" to live among them as their advisor and protector in
temporal affairs. The church and friary, along with fifteen acres of land, were
allocated to the missionary to remain in his care and under his direction.

Following secularization, the Mission San Jose continued its affairs in good order.
The Misgion was then called San Jose pueblo, and slowly Spaniards began to settle
around it. By 1804 the population of San Jose was composed of 57 Indians and 16
Spaniards. Five years later San Jose Church and these of the other three missions
were administered by only two Franciscan missionaries, and by 1820 only one.

Complete secularization, amounting to suppression, was finalized on February 2h,
182k, Iturbvide, emperor of Mexico, upon his ascension to office had reinstituted
the laws of Spain under Cortes; one of the acts was a secularization decree issued
in 1813 ordering immediate distribution of mission lands to private citizens
reserving a portion for the Indian inhabitants., Fr. Diaz in 1823, the only priest
in San Antonio, delayed the proceedings for a time; but finally in February of 1824
he was compelled to sign over the inventeries of all the old San Antonio missions, .
The church buildings were given over to the San Fernando pParish 1o be administered
by the pastor of the church.

Following this event the buildings at San Jose became increasingly neglected and
abandoned. A few families occupled the old quarters, but the only other use of
the buildings until 1842 was for quartering soldiers in the old Indian houses.

On January 13, 1841, the Texas Congress, as a result of a petition by Fr, 0din and
Fr. Timon, passed an act "Confirming the Use, Occupation, and Enjoyment of the
Churches, Church lots, and Mission Churches to the Roman Cathelic Congregations
living in or near the vicinity of the same." The mission churches along with out-
buildings and lots were declared the property of "the present chief pastor of the
Roman Catholic Church in the Republic of Texas, and his successors in office; in
trust forever, for the use and benefit of the congregations residing near the
same. . ."

San Jose Church was probably used from time to time during the 1840s ror religious
purposes. George Kendall in his "Narrative of the Texas Santa Fe Expedition,”
written for the New Orleans Picayune, reported that by 1841 the church had been
repaired and divine service was performed in it.
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Kendall also reported that even though the Texan troops "were long quartered" at
San Jose they hed notinjured the elaborate stone carvings on the front facade

of the church, Two years later, howeyver, William Bollaert recorded that the
"images of the saints and other ornamental parts had been sadly mutilated by the
soldiery during the wars." Bollaert found the church "still in good preservation’
although full of bats' nests.

John R. Bartlett, one of the United States commissioners of the boundary survey,
viewed San Jose in 1850 and concurred with Bollaert:

The acticn. of the weather has done much to destroy the
figures, and the work of ruin has been assisted by the
numercus military companies near here who, finding in
the hands and features of the statues convenient marks
for rifle and pistol shots, did not fail to improve
the opportunity for showing thelr skill at arms.

In 1859 San Jose was used as a Benedictine monastery and seminary. -Bishop Odin
had induced the Abbot of St. Vincent's Abbey at Latrobe, Pennsylvania, to supply
a prior, two priests and two brothers for this purpose. During their stay the
Benedictines made numerous improvements to the San Jose buildings,

The Benedictines were recalled in 1868, and San Jose was abandoned for four years.
On December 10, 1868, the north wall of the church collapsed during a storm; on
the night of December 25, 187&, the dome and most of the roof fell in.

In 1872 San Jose was occupied by the Holy Cross Fathers from Notre Dame, Indiana.
Regular services were then conducted, although not in the church due to its ruinous
state but rather in the chapel adjoining the church om the south side. After the
Holy Cross Fathers left in 1888 services were still occasionally held. In 1890,
William Corner reported that the Mexican families were living in the old Mission
gquarters.

On April 22, 1923, the Redemptorist Fathers of San Antonic were placed in charge
of the 0ld missions; they conducted divine services in the San Jose chapel until
‘the refturn of the Franciscans in 1931.

Restoration on the old buildings began in 1918 when the church was cleared of debris
and part of the north wall was rebuilt. This work was made possible by Mrs. Henry
Drought as a memorial to her husband. Cracks were patched and the spiral staircase
which had fallen in 1903 was replaced. The chapel was alsc renovated and furnished,
and the lower arches of the convent were filled in,

Sometime between the evening of March 8 and the morning of March @, 1928, the
entire south facade of the southwest corner tower fell, The front facade was
largely undisturbed with the exception of the helfry itself, which was consider-
ably damaged. Tmmediately after the event, Archbishop Drossaerts announced that
the tower would be restored to its original appearance,

Restoration work was continued from 1934 to 1936. The church wag in use and reded-
icated April 1£, 1937. Further work was carried out in 1947-1952 when the facade
statues were repaired and the structure as a whole was strengthened.
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During the 1930s the San Antonic Conservation Society purchased the ruins of the
old Granary, which it then proceeded to restore., In 1941 the Society deeded the
Granary property to Béxar County, and the county in turn transferred the Granary

The Catholic Archdiocese of San Antonio, which owned the church and convent and

one half interest in the main plaza, followed with a cooperative agreement with

the State of Texas to have the San Jose Mission established as a State Historie

Site, In that same year San Jose was declared a National Historic Site. It is

currently administered by the Texas Parks and Wildlife Department in cooperation
with the Archdiocese of San Antonio, the National Park Service, the San Antonio

Conservation Socletyy and the County of Bexar.
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